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Federal M ne Safety and Heal th Revi ew Conm ssion
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ADM NI STRATI ON ( MSHA) , Docket No. SE 86-137-M
PETI TI ONER A.C. No. 09-00022-05515
V. Galite No. 1 M ne

GALI TE CORPORATI ON
RESPONDENT

DECI SI ON

Appear ances: Larry A. Auerbach, Esq., Ofice of the Solicitor
U.S. Departnent of Labor, Atlanta, Georgia, for
Petitioner; Kenneth P. Mayeaux, General Manager,
Galite Corporation, Rockmart, GCeorgia, for Respondent.

Bef ore: Judge Koutras
Statement of the Case

Thi s proceedi ng concerns a proposal for assessment of civi
penalty filed by the petitioner against the respondent pursuant
to section 110(a) of the Federal M ne Safety and Health Act of
1977, 30 U.S.C. 0O 820(a), seeking a civil penalty assessnment of
$147 for an alleged violation of mandatory safety standard 30
C.F.R [0 56.9002. The respondent filed an answer denying the
violation, and a hearing was held in Marietta, Georgia, on June
30, 1987. The parties waived the filing of posthearing briefs.
However, | have considered the oral argunents nade by the parties
on the record during the course of the hearing.

| ssues

The issues presented in this case are (1) whether the
conditions or practices cited by the inspector constitute a
violation of the cited mandatory safety standard, and (2) the
appropriate civil penalty to be assessed for the violation,
taking into account the statutory civil penalty criteria found
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in section 110(i) of the Act. Additional issues raised by the
parties are discussed in the course of this decision
Applicable Statutory and Regul atory Provisions

1. The Federal M ne Safety and Health Act of 1977, Pub. L.
95A164, 30 U.S.C. O 801 et seq.

2. Section 110(i) of the 1977 Act, 30 U.S.C. 0O 820(i).

3. Commission Rules, 20 C.F.R [0 2700.1 et seq.
Stipul ati ons

The parties stipulated to jurisdiction, and that during 1986
the subject plant and quarry, including office personnel, worked
143, 705 man- hours. They al so stipulated that any civil penalty
assessnment for the violation in question will not adversely
affect the respondent's ability to continue in business (Tr. 5).

The parties agreed that exhibit PAl, a conputer print-out of
prior violations for the respondent's controller corporation
reflects the controller's history of violations for the period
July 9, 1984 through July 8, 1986. The print-out reflects 50 paid
vi ol ati ons, 22 of which are "significant and substantial"
viol ations. Petitioner's counsel asserted that for this sane tine
period, the respondent's Galite No. 1 Mne received civil penalty
assessnments for nine citations which were "other than single
penalty items," and that they were timely paid (Tr. 6A7).

Di scussi on

Section 104(a) "S & S" Citation No. 2848584, July 9, 1986,
cites a violation of 30 C.F.R [ 56.9002, and the condition or
practice is described as follows: "One bolt was nmi ssing and
others | oose on the plate that connects the drive shaft to the
transmi ssion on the RA22 Euclid haul age truck."

Petitioner's Testinony and Evi dence

MSHA | nspect or Bobby A. Underwood confirnmed that he issued
the citation. He described the truck as an RA22 U nodel used to
haul material fromthe pit to the primary crusher, and he
confirmed that it was used daily during the full shift. The route
of the truck took it over level ground, but there were declines
where the truck entered and exited the pit. The truck had a
25At on capacity and was approxi mately 20 years old (Tr. 11A12).
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I nspect or Underwood described the truck drive shaft, and he
stated that the front of the universal joint had a flange which
attached to the transm ssion with approxi mately ei ght one-half
inch bolts. He found that one of the bolts was conpletely
m ssing, and that the others which he exam ned were | oose to the
poi nt where "you could actually turn themw th your fingers," and
they were "backed out hal fway" (Tr. 13).

I nspect or Underwood stated that he was alerted to the
condition of the drive shaft when he noticed a "shiny spot" in
the area next to the differential which appeared to have been
caused by some rubbing action. He checked the drive shaft and
found the | oose and mi ssing bolts which "was making the
transm ssion work up and down." Based on what he observed, he
concluded that it would have taken several days for the bolts to
work | oose. He confirned that upon inspection of the truck he
al so issued two additional citations, one for an inoperative
horn, and one for a badly worn tie rod for the steering cylinder
(Tr. 15A16; exhibits PA2 and PA3). The condition of the tie rod
was such that it had the potential for breaking, and if it did,
the truck would lose its steering capability. Both cited
conditions were repaired (Tr. 16). He al so observed that two
bolts were mssing fromthe |eft rear transm ssion hangar plate,
but did not issue a citation for this condition. Although he did
not believe that this condition in and of itself would cause an
accident, "it would contribute to this drive shaft because it
woul d nove back and forth" (Tr. 17).

M. Underwood descri bed yhe hazard associated with the cited
conditions as follows (Tr. 18A19):

Q What kind of hazard did you see associated with this
problemw th the drive shaft?

A. The drive shaftAwith the lost nmotion in it, if the
bolts didn't cone out, there was a good possibility of
snappi ng those bolts, but this truck doesn't have a
cross menber underneath. The drive shaft would fal

down, possibly sticking into the ground and throw ng
the truck out of control, or wham around and possibly
hit the brake line and breaking it where you woul d | ose
your braking system

Q What would cause it to go around? Wat woul d cause
the drive shaft to fly around like that?
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A. Well, the front end would be | oose and the differentia
turn the drive shaft around.

Q The differential is hooked onto the rear end of the
drive shaft? Is that right?

A. Right.
Q The back wheel s?
A. Right.

Q And that would still be turning as the truck is
moving. |Is that right?

A. Right. Yes.

M. Underwood stated that it is not unusual to use the
transm ssion to help brake the truck while it is on a grade or an
incline (Tr. 20). He identified a copy of an MSHA fatal accident
report involving another mne operator where a drive shaft on a
haul age truck gave way and the operator |ost control of the
vehicle (Tr. 21; exhibit PA4). Petitioner's counsel asserted that
this incident is a representative exanple of what could happen
when a truck loses its transmission (Tr. 21). Respondent's
representative took the position that the report is not
particularly relevant because it states that "the direct cause of
t he accident could not be determi ned" (Tr. 23).

M . Underwood believed that the violative conditions which
he cited with respect to the drive shaft could result in serious
injuries or a fatality in the event the truck overturned or
collided with another vehicle or individual. He believed that the
condition was observable and that the |ost transm ssion notion
and noise fromthe rubbing action should have alerted the
respondent. Since the result of the rubbing action was
observable, a routine further inspection under the truck would
have detected the | oose and m ssing bolts (Tr. 24). M. Underwood
confirmed that the truck was taken to the shop, and that when he
next saw it, it was repaired. To his know edge, the truck was not
used after the citation was issued (Tr. 24).

In response to further questions, M. Underwood stated that
the truck operator is required to i nspect his truck before
operating it. Although one would have to be under the

woul d
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truck to observe the drive shaft flange, the results of the
rubbi ng action of the drive shaft against the transm ssion was
noti ceabl e to anyone sinmply wal ki ng around the truck. The truck
was bei ng operated when he stopped it to inspect it, and he
observed the area whi ch had been rubbi ng and wanted to know what
caused it. The truck was enpty and the driver did not seemto
know anyt hi ng about the conditions in question (Tr. 26A27). He
bel i eved that the driver should have been alerted to the
condition in the normal course of his driving (Tr. 28).

On cross-exam nation, M. Underwood confirnmed that the
condition of the bolts, the wear on the side of the transm ssion
where it had been working up and down, the |oose bolts on the
flange, and the mi ssing bolts on the left rear of the
transm ssion, led himto believe that the cited condition had
existed for 2 or 3 days (Tr. 30). He could not state howlong it
woul d have taken to work the drive shaft |oose (Tr. 31). He
confirmed that he was aware of a prior accident at a nmine where
he once worked which was caused by a | oose drive shaft which
turned a haul age truck over on a decline (Tr. 31).

M. Underwood stated that in the event the drive shaft on
the cited truck had conme | oose, it was possible that the driver
coul d have stopped it safely with the brakes if he had the
opportunity to do so. Although the brakes were adequate, if the
drive shaft had fallen down while the truck was operating in
| oose dirt and rock and the end of the shaft caught on this
material, it could have pulled the truck out of gear (Tr. 32).

In response to further questions, M. Underwood stated that
the truck was used to haul expanded shell rock which was bei ng
m ned, and that other conpany vehicles used the roadway.
Pedestrians did not usually use the roadway, and the trucks
normal ly travelled 35 mles an hour enpty and approxi mately 10
m |l es an hour |oaded (Tr. 34). Respondent's representative stated
that the posted speed limt is 15 miles an hour for trucks which
are enpty and | oaded, and that the distance fromthe pit to the
quarry is about half a mle, and fromthe quarry to the crusher
about half a mile. He concluded that the trucks do not attain
much speed in the half mle of travel (Tr. 35). M. Underwood
agreed with these distances, but suggested that the drivers
exceeded the posted speed |imt (Tr. 35). He also agreed that the
haul age road is 80 feet wide for nobst |ocations over which the
trucks are driven, except for an area directly where they enter
the quarry. At
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that point the roadway is 50 feet wide for a distance of 100 feet
(Tr. 36).

Respondent's Testi nony and Evi dence

Al t hough the respondent's safety director was present during
the hearing, he was not called to testify, and the respondent
presented no testinony or evidence in defense of the citation
other than the argunments of its representative (Tr. 36).

Arguments Presented by the Parties

The parties waived the filing of posthearing briefs and
relied on their oral argunents nade on the record during the
close of the hearing (Tr. 43). Respondent takes the position that
the cited standard, 30 C.F. R 0 56.9002, as worded, does not
apply to the cited condition of the drive shaft. Respondent
poi nts out that the standard speaks in terns of "defects
affecting safety,” and that since the alleged truck defect was in
the drive nmechanismrather than on the truck's safety equi pment,
the standard is inapplicable. Respondent concedes that a steering
mechani sm may affect safety, but not necessarily a drive shaft,
especially one that is still intact and operating. Respondent
al so believes that the condition of the drive shaft was sonething
that coul d have happened after the equi pment was started and not
prior to its operation. In this regard, respondent asserted that
the bolts could have been in place and fallen off in the 3 hours
that the truck was in operation prior to its being inspected and
that "it's very hard to say that this did happen during the
operating period" (Tr. 8A9; 37). Since the condition was not
noted by the driver during his inspection, respondent concl udes
that it occurred during the operation of the truck i nmediately
prior to the inspection (Tr. 41). However, respondent agreed that
"we do not go over the truck conpletely every day" (Tr. 41).

The petitioner takes the position that the cited truck
defect involving the drive shaft of a large haulage truck with a
25Aton capacity was in such a condition that it was subject to
com ng | oose, causing |ack of control of the vehicle, which could
result in serious injury or death, and that it is in fact a
defect which directly and perhaps substantially affected the
safety of the enployees (Tr. 8). The petitioner points out that
it was not difficult for the inspector to observe the clue that
led himto find the defect, and that he sinply wal ked around the
truck and observed this clue. Under the circunstances, petitioner
bel i eves that had
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the operator of the truck conducted the same type of inspection
he woul d have detected the defect and taking appropriate
corrective action (Tr. 38).

Petitioner asserted that while the cited condition indicates
a possi bl e mai ntenance problem such problens, as reflected by
the defect found by the inspector, directly affects safety.
Petitioner pointed out that the inspector found another
mai nt enance problem during his inspection, but did not cite it
because it was not, of itself, a safety defect. Wth regard to
the respondent's suggestion that the cited condition may have
occurred during the 3 hours that the truck was operated prior to
the inspection, the petitioner submts that the unrefuted
testinony by the inspector is that the condition of the drive
shaft sinmply cannot reasonably happen in 3 hours. In any event,
petitioner asserts that this issue goes to the question of
negl i gence rather than to the existence of any violation (Tr.
39). In further support of its case, the petitioner cites a
deci sion by the Commrission in Allied Chemnical Corporation, 3 MSHC
1544, August 28, 1984, 6 FMSHRC 1854 (August 1984), affirm ng a
violation of an identical surface mning standard found in 30
C.F.R 0 57.9002, in which the Conm ssion held that "Defects
af fecting safety in equi pnment continuously in operation
i ncl udi ng those occurring during the course of operation, nust be
corrected before the equipnent is used any further," 3 MSHC 1584
(Tr. 40).

Fi ndi ngs and Concl usi ons

The respondent is charged with a violation of mandatory
safety standard 30 C.F. R 0O 56.9002, which provides that
"Equi prrent defects affecting safety shall be corrected before the
equi pnent is used."

In Ideal Basic Industries, Cenent Division, 3 FMSHRC 843
(April 1981), the Commi ssion affirnmed a violation of section
56. 9002, and stated as follows at 3 FMSHRC 144 with respect to
its interpretation of the standard:

[We hold that use of a piece of equipnment containing a
defective conmponent that could be used and which, if
used, could affect safety, constitutes a violation

This interpretation is nmore likely to prevent

accidents, a primary goal of the Act.

United States Steel Corporation, 4 FMSHRC 616 (April 1982),
concerned a violation of an identical standard found in 30 C.F.R
0 55.9A2. In that case, a driver of a 2 1/2Ato
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pi ck-up truck detected that the dual rear wheels of the truck had
shifted in the rear wheel-well while he was driving it. He
reported the condition to his foreman, but the condition was not
corrected. Two days later, another driver visually inspected the
truck, and believing that it had been repaired, proceeded to
drive it with a crewof nmeninit. On a straightaway, the driver
noticed that the rear tires were snoking in the rear wheel -wells.
Wthin seconds the rear end started to steer itself around the
cab, and when the driver let up on the gas pedal, the truck's
drive shaft dropped |oose, and the truck overturned injuring the
occupants.

The operator advanced an argunent simlar to that of the
respondent in this case. The operator contended that the term
"defects affecting safety” should be intended to cover detects
which are normally associated with the safe operation of the
vehicle, and that the question of whether the nechanical problem
cited by the inspector constituted an equi pnent defect affecting
safety should be interpreted in |ight of the know edge and
under st andi ng of the operator's personnel at the tinme it was
first observed, rather than after the truck had rolled over under
ci rcunmst ances whi ch had never previously been known to cause a
truck to turn over. Judge Steffey rejected this argunment, and
found that the shifting rear end of the truck constituted a
"defect affecting safety" which was not corrected before the
equi pnent was used, and he affirned the violation

The Commi ssion affirmed Judge Steffey's decision, and
observed as follows at 6 FMSHRC 1434A1435:

Subst anti al evi dence al so supports the judge's
conclusion that the shifted rear end of this truck was
a defect affecting safety. There is evidence in

the record that a shifted rear end is a sign of
mechani cal defect, with a potential to cause an
accident. Also, at some point, a shift in a vehicle's
rear end will affect safety. In this particular

i nstance, the shifted rear end caused the spring
package to break, a punctured rear tire, the broken
drive shaft to separate fromthe vehicle, and the truck
toroll over. Al of these facts point to a

defect affecting safety.

The Allied Chenical Corporation case cited by the petitioner
i nvol ved two nmissing bolts on a chock | eg used for roof support
on a longwall system In affirmng the judge's
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finding that the mssing bolts constituted an equi prent defect
affecting safety, the Conmi ssion stated as follows at 6 FMSHRC
1857A1858:

In both ordinary and mining industry usage, a "defect"”
is a fault, a deficiency, or a condition inpairing the
useful ness of an object or a part. Webster's Third New
International Dictionary (Unabridged) 591 (1971); U.S.
Department of Interior, Bureau of Mnes, A Dictionary

of Mning, Mneral, and Related Ternms 307 (1968).

*khkkkkhkkkkk*k

The judge further found that the absence of the two
bolts in this case affected safety. W agree. Although
the effect on safety of two missing leg bolts in a
hydraul i c chock line of sone 125 units could be viewed
as inconsequential and beyond the standard's purview,
we are not prepared to dispute the judge's findings as
to the adverse inpact on safety occasioned by the two
m ssing bolts.

The starting point for analysis is the broad | anguage
of the standard, "affecting safety." That phrase is
neither nodified nor Iimted. Although this case does
not require us to describe the mninmal effect on safety
cogni zabl e under the standard, it is clear that the
standard has a w de reach. The safety effect of an
uncorrected equi pnent defect need not be mmjor or

i mediate to cone within that reach.

And, at 6 FMSHRC 18509:

Defects affecting safety in equi pnment continuously in
operation, including those occurring during the course
of operation, must be corrected before the equipnment is
used any further. The contrary approach urged by Allied
could result in such defects not being repaired for
substantial periods of time, thus needl essly increasing
safety risks.
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Fact of Violation

In this case the inspector issued the citation because of
his belief that the | oose and m ssing bolts on the flange plate
whi ch connected the front universal joint to the transm ssion
presented a potential for the drive shaft to come | ocose, thereby
resulting in loss of control of the truck. He found one m ssing
bolt and several other bolts which were | oose to the point where
they could be turned with his fingers. These conditions resulted
in the transm ssion nmoving up and down, and the inspector
believed that even if the | oosened bolts had not come conpletely
out as the truck was driven, there was a good possibility that
they would snap off, thereby causing the drive shaft to fall out.
If this had occurred, and since the underside of the truck had no
restraining cross-nenber on its undercarriage, the fallen drive
shaft could possibly stick into the ground causi ng gear |oss and
a loss of control of the vehicle. Since the truck differential is
hooked to the rear end of the drive shaft at the back wheels of
the truck which would be turning, had the drive shaft cone |oose
at the front end, it could whip around and possibly strike the
brake lines, thereby resulting in a loss to the truck braking
system

The inspector's testinmony is unrebutted, and the respondent
presented no testinmony or evidence to refute his contentions with
respect to the cited conditions. Further, the respondent has not
refuted the testinony of the inspector, which I find credible, as
to the potential consequences which may flow fromthe | oosened
and missing bolts in question. There was a real potential for the
drive shaft to come | oose and whip around freely under the truck
while it was being driven, thereby contributing to the |oss of
control and possible |oss of braking power. Under the
circunstances, and in |ight of the conditions which were
described and cited by the inspector, | conclude and find that
the m ssing and | oose bolts in question were equi pnent defects
affecting safety within the neaning of section 56.9002, and the
citation IS AFFI RVED,

The respondent's suggestion that section 56.9002 is
i napplicabl e because the cited conditions related to a nechani ca
drive mechanism rather than a safety conponent of the truck is
rej ected. The standard makes no such distinctions, and the
deci si ons whi ch have been discussed with respect to the
interpretation and application of this standard hol d ot herw se.
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The respondent's assertion that the bolts could have been
| oosened and fallen off during the 3Ahour period that the truck
was in operation immediately prior to its inspection is not
relevant to the fact that a violation occurred. As noted by the
Commi ssion in Allied Chem cal Corporation, supra. "Defects
affecting safety in equi pment continuously in operation,
i ncl udi ng those occurring during the course of operation, nust be
corrected before the equi pnent is used any further" (enphasis
added) .

Hi story of Prior Violations

I conclude and find that the respondent's past conpliance
record is not such as to warrant any additional increase in the
civil penalty which has been assessed for the violation which has
been affirned.

Si ze of Business and Effect of Civil Penalty on the Respondent's
Ability to Continue in Business

I conclude and find that the respondent is a relatively
smal | operator, and that the civil penalty which has been
assessed for the violation in question will not adversely affect
its ability to continue in business.

Gravity

I conclude and find that the cited conditions constituted a
serious violation. Although the inspector found that the brakes
on the cited truck were adequate, and that it was possible that
the driver could have stopped the truck in the event the drive
shaft came | oose, he nonethel ess believed that a | oose drive
shaft whi pping freely under the truck could have pulled the truck
out of gear, sheared the brake lines, or caused |oss of contro
by sticking in the ground.

Negl i gence

VWiile it is true that the inspector had to | ook under the
truck to detect the cited defects, his unrebutted testinony is
that the shiny spot caused by the rubbing action of the
transm ssion which alerted himto | ook under the truck was
readi |y observable to anyone wal ki ng around the truck. G ven the
fact that the truck driver is required to inspect the vehicle
prior to placing it in operation, and given the admi ssion by the
respondent's representative that "we do not go over the truck
conpletely every day" (Tr. 41), | conclude and find that the
violation resulted fromthe respondent's
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failure to exercise reasonably care, and that this constitutes
ordi nary negligence.

Good Faith Conpliance

The inspector confirned that the truck was taken to the shop
after the citation was issued, and that when he next saw it the
conditions had been corrected. | conclude and find that the
respondent exercised good faith in abating the violation.

Significant and Substantial Violation

A "significant and substantial” violation is described in
section 104(d)(1) of the Mne Act as a violation "of such nature
as could significantly and substantially contribute to the cause
and effect of a coal or other nine safety or health hazard." 30
C.F.R 0814(d)(1). Aviolation is properly designated

significant and substantial "if, based upon the particular facts
surroundi ng the violation there exists a reasonable |ikelihood
that the hazard contributed to will result in an injury or

illness of a reasonably serious nature.” Cenent Division
Nati onal Gypsum Co., 3 FMSHRC 822, 825 (April 1981).

In Mathies Coal Co., 6 FMSHRC 1, 3A4 (January 1984), the
Commi ssion explained its interpretation of the term "significant
and substantial" as foll ows:

In order to establish that a violation of a mandatory
safety standard is significant and substantial under
Nati onal Gypsum the Secretary of Labor nust prove: (1)
the underlying violation of a mandatory safety
standard; (2) a discrete safety hazardAthat is, a
measure of danger to safetyAcontributed to by the
violation; (3) a reasonable likelihood that the hazard
contributed to will result in an injury; and (4) a
reasonabl e |ikelihood that the injury in question wll
be of a reasonably serious nature.

In United States Steel M ning Conpany, Inc., 7 FMSHRC 1125,
1129, the Commi ssion stated further as foll ows:

We have explained further that the third el enent of the
Mat hies formula "requires that the Secretary establish

a reasonabl e |ikelihood that the hazard contributed to

will result
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in an event in which there is an injury.” US. Steel Mning Co.
6 FMSHRC 1834, 1836 (August 1984). We have enphasi zed that, in
accordance with the | anguage of section 104(d)(1), it is the
contribution of a violation to the cause and effect of a hazard
that nmust be significant and substantial. U S. Steel M ning
Conmpany, Inc., 6 FMSHRC 1866, 1868 (August 1984); U. S. Stee
M ni ng Conpany, Inc., 6 FMSHRC 1573, 1574A75 (July 1984).

| agree with the inspector's finding that the cited
conditions constituted a significant and substantial violation
Based on the facts of this case, |I conclude and find that it was
reasonably likely that the continued operation of the truck with
| oosened and missing bolts which obviously affected the drive
shaft woul d cause the drive shaft to cone | oose, thereby
contributing to a loss of control of the vehicle and a potentia
acci dent of a reasonably serious nature. The inspector's "S & S"
finding |I'S AFFI RVED

Civil Penalty Assessnent

On the basis of the foregoing findings and concl usi ons, and
taking into account the requirements of section 110(i) of the
Act, | conclude and find that the petitioner's proposed ci Vi
penalty assessnment of $147 is reasonable and appropriate.

ORDER

The respondent IS ORDERED to pay a civil penalty assessment
in the amobunt of $147 for the violation in question, and paynent
is to be nmade to MSHA within thirty (30) days of the date of this
deci si on. Upon receipt of paynent, this case is dism ssed.

Ceorge A. Koutras
Adm ni strative Law Judge



